# As Reported by the House Government Accountability and Oversight Committee

## 131st General Assembly

Regular Session 2015-2016

Sub. S. B. No. 321

#### **Senator Faber**

Cosponsors: Senators Burke, Eklund, Jordan, LaRose, Peterson, Seitz, Obhof, Skindell, Bacon, Balderson, Beagle, Brown, Coley, Gardner, Hackett, Hite, Hottinger, Hughes, Jones, Lehner, Manning, Oelslager, Patton, Sawyer, Schiavoni, Thomas, Uecker, Yuko Representatives Buchy, Curtin, Smith, R.

### A BILL

То	amend sections 149.43, 149.433, 2323.52,	1
	2743.03, 2746.04, and 3333.0412 and to enact	2
	section 2743.75 of the Revised Code to create a	3
	procedure within the Court of Claims to hear	4
	complaints alleging a denial of access to public	5
	records, to modify the circumstances under which	6
	a person who files a mandamus action seeking the	7
	release of public records may be awarded court	8
	costs and attorney's fees, to expand the	9
	infrastructure record exemption under Public	10
	Records Law, and to generally protect a private,	11
	nonprofit institution of higher education from	12
	liability for a breach of confidentiality or	13
	other claim that arises from the institution's	14
	disclosure of public records.	15

#### BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF OHIO:

Sub. S. B. No. 321 As Reported by the House Government Accountability and Oversight Committee	
2743.03, 2746.04, and 3333.0412 be amended and section 2743.75	17
of the Revised Code be enacted to read as follows:	18
Sec. 149.43. (A) As used in this section:	19
(1) "Public record" means records kept by any public	20
office, including, but not limited to, state, county, city,	21
village, township, and school district units, and records	22
pertaining to the delivery of educational services by an	23
alternative school in this state kept by the nonprofit or for-	24
profit entity operating the alternative school pursuant to	25
section 3313.533 of the Revised Code. "Public record" does not	26
mean any of the following:	27
(a) Medical records;	28
(b) Records pertaining to probation and parole proceedings	29
or to proceedings related to the imposition of community control	30
sanctions and post-release control sanctions;	31
(c) Records pertaining to actions under section 2151.85	32
and division (C) of section 2919.121 of the Revised Code and to	33
appeals of actions arising under those sections;	34
(d) Records pertaining to adoption proceedings, including	35
the contents of an adoption file maintained by the department of	36
health under sections 3705.12 to 3705.124 of the Revised Code;	37
(e) Information in a record contained in the putative	38
father registry established by section 3107.062 of the Revised	39
Code, regardless of whether the information is held by the	40
department of job and family services or, pursuant to section	41
3111.69 of the Revised Code, the office of child support in the	42
department or a child support enforcement agency;	43
(f) Records specified in division (A) of section 3107.52	44

Sub. S. B. No. 321 As Reported by the House Government Accountability and Oversight Committee	Page 3
of the Revised Code;	45
(g) Trial preparation records;	46
(h) Confidential law enforcement investigatory records;	47
(i) Records containing information that is confidential under section 2710.03 or 4112.05 of the Revised Code;	48
(j) DNA records stored in the DNA database pursuant to section 109.573 of the Revised Code;	50 51
(k) Inmate records released by the department of rehabilitation and correction to the department of youth services or a court of record pursuant to division (E) of section 5120.21 of the Revised Code;	52 53 54 55
(1) Records maintained by the department of youth services pertaining to children in its custody released by the department of youth services to the department of rehabilitation and correction pursuant to section 5139.05 of the Revised Code;	56 57 58 59
<ul><li>(m) Intellectual property records;</li><li>(n) Donor profile records;</li></ul>	60 61
(o) Records maintained by the department of job and family services pursuant to section 3121.894 of the Revised Code;	62 63
(p) Peace officer, parole officer, probation officer, bailiff, prosecuting attorney, assistant prosecuting attorney, correctional employee, community-based correctional facility	64 65 66
employee, youth services employee, firefighter, EMT, or investigator of the bureau of criminal identification and investigation residential and familial information;	67 68 69
(q) In the case of a county hospital operated pursuant to Chapter 339. of the Revised Code or a municipal hospital	70 71

163

164

- (6) "Donor profile record" means all records about donors or potential donors to a public institution of higher education except the names and reported addresses of the actual donors and the date, amount, and conditions of the actual donation.
- (7) "Peace officer, parole officer, probation officer, 166 bailiff, prosecuting attorney, assistant prosecuting attorney, 167 correctional employee, community-based correctional facility 168 employee, youth services employee, firefighter, EMT, or 169 investigator of the bureau of criminal identification and 170 investigation residential and familial information" means any 171 information that discloses any of the following about a peace 172 officer, parole officer, probation officer, bailiff, prosecuting 173 attorney, assistant prosecuting attorney, correctional employee, 174 community-based correctional facility employee, youth services 175 employee, firefighter, EMT, or investigator of the bureau of 176 criminal identification and investigation: 177
- (a) The address of the actual personal residence of a 178 peace officer, parole officer, probation officer, bailiff, 179 assistant prosecuting attorney, correctional employee, 180 community-based correctional facility employee, youth services 181 employee, firefighter, EMT, or an investigator of the bureau of 182 criminal identification and investigation, except for the state 183 or political subdivision in which the peace officer, parole 184 officer, probation officer, bailiff, assistant prosecuting 185 attorney, correctional employee, community-based correctional 186 facility employee, youth services employee, firefighter, EMT, or 187

employee's, community-based correctional facility employee's,	218
youth services employee's, firefighter's, EMT's, or investigator	219
of the bureau of criminal identification and investigation's	220
employer from the peace officer's, parole officer's, probation	221
officer's, bailiff's, prosecuting attorney's, assistant	222
prosecuting attorney's, correctional employee's, community-based	223
correctional facility employee's, youth services employee's,	224
firefighter's, EMT's, or investigator of the bureau of criminal	225
identification and investigation's compensation unless the	226
amount of the deduction is required by state or federal law;	227
(f) The name, the residential address, the name of the	228
employer, the address of the employer, the social security	229
number, the residential telephone number, any bank account,	230
debit card, charge card, or credit card number, or the emergency	231
telephone number of the spouse, a former spouse, or any child of	232
a peace officer, parole officer, probation officer, bailiff,	233
prosecuting attorney, assistant prosecuting attorney,	234
correctional employee, community-based correctional facility	235
employee, youth services employee, firefighter, EMT, or	236
investigator of the bureau of criminal identification and	237
investigation;	238
(g) A photograph of a peace officer who holds a position	239
or has an assignment that may include undercover or plain	240
clothes positions or assignments as determined by the peace	241
officer's appointing authority.	242
As used in divisions (A) $(7)$ and $(B)$ $(9)$ of this section,	243
"peace officer" has the same meaning as in section 109.71 of the	244
Revised Code and also includes the superintendent and troopers	245
of the state highway patrol; it does not include the sheriff of	246

a county or a supervisory employee who, in the absence of the

promptly prepared and made available for inspection to any 305 person at all reasonable times during regular business hours. 306 Subject to division (B)(8) of this section, upon request, a 307 public office or person responsible for public records shall 308 make copies of the requested public record available at cost and 309 within a reasonable period of time. If a public record contains 310 information that is exempt from the duty to permit public 311 inspection or to copy the public record, the public office or 312 the person responsible for the public record shall make 313 available all of the information within the public record that 314 is not exempt. When making that public record available for 315 public inspection or copying that public record, the public 316 office or the person responsible for the public record shall 317 notify the requester of any redaction or make the redaction 318 plainly visible. A redaction shall be deemed a denial of a 319 request to inspect or copy the redacted information, except if 320 federal or state law authorizes or requires a public office to 321 make the redaction. 322

(2) To facilitate broader access to public records, a 323 public office or the person responsible for public records shall 324 325 organize and maintain public records in a manner that they can be made available for inspection or copying in accordance with 326 division (B) of this section. A public office also shall have 327 available a copy of its current records retention schedule at a 328 location readily available to the public. If a requester makes 329 an ambiguous or overly broad request or has difficulty in making 330 a request for copies or inspection of public records under this 331 section such that the public office or the person responsible 332 for the requested public record cannot reasonably identify what 333 public records are being requested, the public office or the 334 person responsible for the requested public record may deny the 335

request but shall provide the requester with an opportunity to

revise the request by informing the requester of the manner in

which records are maintained by the public office and accessed

in the ordinary course of the public office's or person's

duties.

336

340

- (3) If a request is ultimately denied, in part or in 341 whole, the public office or the person responsible for the 342 requested public record shall provide the requester with an 343 explanation, including legal authority, setting forth why the 344 345 request was denied. If the initial request was provided in writing, the explanation also shall be provided to the requester 346 in writing. The explanation shall not preclude the public office 347 or the person responsible for the requested public record from 348 relying upon additional reasons or legal authority in defending 349 an action commenced under division (C) of this section. 350
- (4) Unless specifically required or authorized by state or 351 federal law or in accordance with division (B) of this section, 352 no public office or person responsible for public records may 353 limit or condition the availability of public records by 354 requiring disclosure of the requester's identity or the intended 355 use of the requested public record. Any requirement that the 356 requester disclose the requestor's requester's identity or the 357 intended use of the requested public record constitutes a denial 358 359 of the request.
- (5) A public office or person responsible for public

  records may ask a requester to make the request in writing, may

  361

  ask for the requester's identity, and may inquire about the

  intended use of the information requested, but may do so only

  363

  after disclosing to the requester that a written request is not

  364

  mandatory and that the requester may decline to reveal the

  365

367

368

369

370

requester's identity or the intended use and when a written request or disclosure of the identity or intended use would benefit the requester by enhancing the ability of the public office or person responsible for public records to identify, locate, or deliver the public records sought by the requester.

(6) If any person chooses to obtain a copy of a public

record in accordance with division (B) of this section, the public office or person responsible for the public record may require that person to pay in advance the cost involved in providing the copy of the public record in accordance with the choice made by the person seeking the copy under this division. The public office or the person responsible for the public record shall permit that person to choose to have the public record duplicated upon paper, upon the same medium upon which the public office or person responsible for the public record keeps it, or upon any other medium upon which the public office or person responsible for the public record determines that it reasonably can be duplicated as an integral part of the normal operations of the public office or person responsible for the public record. When the person seeking the copy makes a choice under this division, the public office or person responsible for the public record shall provide a copy of it in accordance with the choice made by the person seeking the copy. Nothing in this section requires a public office or person responsible for the public record to allow the person seeking a copy of the public record to make the copies of the public record.

378

379

380

(7) (a) Upon a request made in accordance with division (B) of this section and subject to division (B)(6) of this section, a public office or person responsible for public records shall transmit a copy of a public record to any person by United States mail or by any other means of delivery or transmission

391

392

393

394

395

396

387

388

389

download, or otherwise receive records provided on the web site,	427
may limit to ten per month the number of records requested by a	428
person that the office will deliver in a digital format, unless	429
the requested records are not provided on the web site and	430
unless the person certifies to the office in writing that the	431
person does not intend to use or forward the requested records,	432
or the information contained in them, for commercial purposes.	433
(iii) For purposes of this division (B)(7) of this	434
section, "commercial" shall be narrowly construed and does not	435
include reporting or gathering news, reporting or gathering	436
information to assist citizen oversight or understanding of the	437
operation or activities of government, or nonprofit educational	438
research.	439
	4.40
(8) A public office or person responsible for public	440
records is not required to permit a person who is incarcerated	441
pursuant to a criminal conviction or a juvenile adjudication to	442
inspect or to obtain a copy of any public record concerning a	443
criminal investigation or prosecution or concerning what would	444
be a criminal investigation or prosecution if the subject of the	445
investigation or prosecution were an adult, unless the request	446
to inspect or to obtain a copy of the record is for the purpose	447
of acquiring information that is subject to release as a public	448
record under this section and the judge who imposed the sentence	449
or made the adjudication with respect to the person, or the	450
judge's successor in office, finds that the information sought	451
in the public record is necessary to support what appears to be	452
a justiciable claim of the person.	453
(9)(a) Upon written request made and signed by a	454
journalist on or after December 16, 1999, a public office, or	455
person responsible for public records, having custody of the	456

487

records of the agency employing a specified peace officer,	457
parole officer, probation officer, bailiff, prosecuting	458
attorney, assistant prosecuting attorney, correctional employee,	459
community-based correctional facility employee, youth services	460
employee, firefighter, EMT, or investigator of the bureau of	461
criminal identification and investigation shall disclose to the	462
journalist the address of the actual personal residence of the	463
peace officer, parole officer, probation officer, bailiff,	464
prosecuting attorney, assistant prosecuting attorney,	465
correctional employee, community-based correctional facility	466
employee, youth services employee, firefighter, EMT, or	467
investigator of the bureau of criminal identification and	468
investigation and, if the peace officer's, parole officer's,	469
probation officer's, bailiff's, prosecuting attorney's,	470
assistant prosecuting attorney's, correctional employee's,	471
community-based correctional facility employee's, youth services	472
employee's, firefighter's, EMT's, or investigator of the bureau	473
of criminal identification and investigation's spouse, former	474
spouse, or child is employed by a public office, the name and	475
address of the employer of the peace officer's, parole	476
officer's, probation officer's, bailiff's, prosecuting	477
attorney's, assistant prosecuting attorney's, correctional	478
employee's, community-based correctional facility employee's,	479
youth services employee's, firefighter's, EMT's, or investigator	480
of the bureau of criminal identification and investigation's	481
spouse, former spouse, or child. The request shall include the	482
journalist's name and title and the name and address of the	483
journalist's employer and shall state that disclosure of the	484
information sought would be in the public interest.	485

(b) Division (B)(9)(a) of this section also applies to

journalist requests for customer information maintained by a

526527

528

529

530

531

532

533

534

535

court of common pleas of the county in which division (B) of
this section allegedly was not complied with, in the supreme
519
court pursuant to its original jurisdiction under Section 2 of
Article IV, Ohio Constitution, or in the court of appeals for
the appellate district in which division (B) of this section
522
allegedly was not complied with pursuant to its original
523
jurisdiction under Section 3 of Article IV, Ohio Constitution.
524

(2) If a requestor requester transmits a written request by hand delivery or certified mail to inspect or receive copies of any public record in a manner that fairly describes the public record or class of public records to the public office or person responsible for the requested public records, except as otherwise provided in this section, the requestor requester shall be entitled to recover the amount of statutory damages set forth in this division if a court determines that the public office or the person responsible for public records failed to comply with an obligation in accordance with division (B) of this section.

The amount of statutory damages shall be fixed at one 536 hundred dollars for each business day during which the public 537 office or person responsible for the requested public records 538 failed to comply with an obligation in accordance with division 539 (B) of this section, beginning with the day on which the 540 requester files a mandamus action to recover statutory damages, 541 up to a maximum of one thousand dollars. The award of statutory 542 damages shall not be construed as a penalty, but as compensation 543 for injury arising from lost use of the requested information. 544 The existence of this injury shall be conclusively presumed. The 545 award of statutory damages shall be in addition to all other 546 remedies authorized by this section. 547

(a) (i) If the court orders the public office or the person

responsible for the public record to comply with division (B) of

this section, the court shall determine and award to the relator

575

576

Page 21

Sub. S. B. No. 321

the public office or person was required to comply with division	607
(B) of this section. No discovery may be conducted on the issue	608
of the alleged bad faith of the public office or person	609
responsible for the public records. This division shall not be	610
construed as creating a presumption that the public office or	611
the person responsible for the public records acted in bad faith	612
when the office or person voluntarily made the public records	613
available to the relator for the first time after the relator	614
commenced the mandamus action, but before the court issued any	615
order described in this division.	616
(c) Court costs and reasonable attorney's fees awarded	617
under this section shall be construed as remedial and not	618
punitive. Reasonable attorney's fees shall include reasonable	619
fees incurred to produce proof of the reasonableness and amount	620
of the fees and to otherwise litigate entitlement to the fees.	621
The court may reduce an award of attorney's fees to the relator	622
or shall not award attorney's fees to the relator if the court	623
determines both of the following:	624
(i) That, based on the ordinary application of statutory	625
law and case law as it existed at the time of the conduct or	626
threatened conduct of the public office or person responsible	627
for the requested public records that allegedly constitutes a	628
failure to comply with an obligation in accordance with division	629
(B) of this section and that was the basis of the mandamus	630
action, a well-informed public office or person responsible for	631
the requested public records reasonably would believe that the	632
conduct or threatened conduct of the public office or person	633
responsible for the requested public records did not constitute	634
a failure to comply with an obligation in accordance with	635

division (B) of this section;

Page 23

Sub. S. B. No. 321

Revised Code, the court may award to the public office all court	666
costs, expenses, and reasonable attorney's fees, as determined	667
by the court.	668
(D) Chapter 1347. of the Revised Code does not limit the	669
provisions of this section.	670
(E)(1) To ensure that all employees of public offices are	671
appropriately educated about a public office's obligations under	672
division (B) of this section, all elected officials or their	673
appropriate designees shall attend training approved by the	674
attorney general as provided in section 109.43 of the Revised	675
Code. In addition, all public offices shall adopt a public	676
records policy in compliance with this section for responding to	677
public records requests. In adopting a public records policy	678
under this division, a public office may obtain guidance from	679
the model public records policy developed and provided to the	680
public office by the attorney general under section 109.43 of	681
the Revised Code. Except as otherwise provided in this section,	682
the policy may not limit the number of public records that the	683
public office will make available to a single person, may not	684
limit the number of public records that it will make available	685
during a fixed period of time, and may not establish a fixed	686
period of time before it will respond to a request for	687
inspection or copying of public records, unless that period is	688
less than eight hours.	689
(2) The public office shall distribute the public records	690
policy adopted by the public office under division (E)(1) of	691
this section to the employee of the public office who is the	692
records custodian or records manager or otherwise has custody of	693
the records of that office. The public office shall require that	694

employee to acknowledge receipt of the copy of the public

records policy. The public office shall create a poster that describes its public records policy and shall post the poster in a conspicuous place in the public office and in all locations where the public office has branch offices. The public office may post its public records policy on the internet web site of the public office if the public office maintains an internet web site. A public office that has established a manual or handbook of its general policies and procedures for all employees of the public office shall include the public records policy of the public office in the manual or handbook.

- (F) (1) The bureau of motor vehicles may adopt rules pursuant to Chapter 119. of the Revised Code to reasonably limit the number of bulk commercial special extraction requests made by a person for the same records or for updated records during a calendar year. The rules may include provisions for charges to be made for bulk commercial special extraction requests for the actual cost of the bureau, plus special extraction costs, plus ten per cent. The bureau may charge for expenses for redacting information, the release of which is prohibited by law.
  - (2) As used in division (F)(1) of this section:
- (a) "Actual cost" means the cost of depleted supplies, records storage media costs, actual mailing and alternative delivery costs, or other transmitting costs, and any direct equipment operating and maintenance costs, including actual costs paid to private contractors for copying services.
- (b) "Bulk commercial special extraction request" means a request for copies of a record for information in a format other than the format already available, or information that cannot be extracted without examination of all items in a records series, class of records, or database by a person who intends to use or

forward the copies for surveys, marketing, solicitation, or	726
resale for commercial purposes. "Bulk commercial special	727
extraction request" does not include a request by a person who	728
gives assurance to the bureau that the person making the request	729
does not intend to use or forward the requested copies for	730
surveys, marketing, solicitation, or resale for commercial	731
purposes.	732
(c) "Commercial" means profit-seeking production, buying,	733
or selling of any good, service, or other product.	734
(d) "Special extraction costs" means the cost of the time	735
spent by the lowest paid employee competent to perform the task,	736
the actual amount paid to outside private contractors employed	737
by the bureau, or the actual cost incurred to create computer	738
programs to make the special extraction. "Special extraction	739
costs" include any charges paid to a public agency for computer	740
or records services.	741
(3) For purposes of divisions (F)(1) and (2) of this	742
section, "surveys, marketing, solicitation, or resale for	743
commercial purposes" shall be narrowly construed and does not	744
include reporting or gathering news, reporting or gathering	745
information to assist citizen oversight or understanding of the	746
operation or activities of government, or nonprofit educational	747
research.	748
(G) A request by a defendant, counsel of a defendant, or	749
any agent of a defendant in a criminal action that public	750
records related to that action be made available under this	751
section shall be considered a demand for discovery pursuant to	752
the Criminal Rules, except to the extent that the Criminal Rules	753
plainly indicate a contrary intent. The defendant, counsel of	754

the defendant, or agent of the defendant making a request under

maliciously injure another party to the civil action. 842 (b) The conduct is not warranted under existing law and 843 cannot be supported by a good faith argument for an extension, 844 modification, or reversal of existing law. 845 846 (c) The conduct is imposed solely for delay. (3) "Vexatious litigator" means any person who has 847 habitually, persistently, and without reasonable grounds engaged 848 in vexatious conduct in a civil action or actions, whether in 849 the court of claims or in a court of appeals, court of common 850 pleas, municipal court, or county court, whether the person or 851 852 another person instituted the civil action or actions, and whether the vexatious conduct was against the same party or 853 against different parties in the civil action or actions. 854 "Vexatious litigator" does not include a person who is 855 authorized to practice law in the courts of this state under the 856 Ohio Supreme Court Rules for the Government of the Bar of Ohio 857 unless that person is representing or has represented self pro 858 se in the civil action or actions. For the purposes of division 859 (A) (3) of this section, "civil action" includes a proceeding 860 under section 2743.75 of the Revised Code. 861 (B) A person, the office of the attorney general, or a 862 prosecuting attorney, city director of law, village solicitor, 863 or similar chief legal officer of a municipal corporation who 864 has defended against habitual and persistent vexatious conduct 865 in the court of claims or in a court of appeals, court of common 866 pleas, municipal court, or county court may commence a civil 867 action in a court of common pleas with jurisdiction over the 868 person who allegedly engaged in the habitual and persistent 869 vexatious conduct to have that person declared a vexatious 870

871

litigator. The person, office of the attorney general,

(2) If the court of common pleas finds a person who is

authorized to practice law in the courts of this state under the

899

Ohio Supreme Court Rules for the Government of the Bar of Ohio 901 to be a vexatious litigator and enters an order described in 902 division (D)(1) of this section in connection with that finding, 903 the order shall apply to the person only insofar as the person 904 would seek to institute proceedings described in division (D)(1) 905 (a) of this section on a pro se basis, continue proceedings 906 907 described in division (D)(1)(b) of this section on a pro se basis, or make an application described in division (D)(1)(c) of 908 this section on a pro se basis. The order shall not apply to the 909 910 person insofar as the person represents one or more other persons in the person's capacity as a licensed and registered 911 attorney in a civil or criminal action or proceeding or other 912 matter in a court of common pleas, municipal court, or county 913 court or in the court of claims. Division (D)(2) of this section 914 does not affect any remedy that is available to a court or an 915 adversely affected party under section 2323.51 or another 916 section of the Revised Code, under Civil Rule 11 or another 917 provision of the Ohio Rules of Civil Procedure, or under the 918 common law of this state as a result of frivolous conduct or 919 other inappropriate conduct by an attorney who represents one or 920 more clients in connection with a civil or criminal action or 921 proceeding or other matter in a court of common pleas, municipal 922 court, or county court or in the court of claims. 923

(3) A person who is subject to an order entered pursuant 924 to division (D)(1) of this section may not institute legal 925 proceedings in a court of appeals, continue any legal 926 proceedings that the vexatious litigator had instituted in a 927 court of appeals prior to entry of the order, or make any 928 application, other than the application for leave to proceed 929 allowed by division (F)(2) of this section, in any legal 930 proceedings instituted by the vexatious litigator or another 931 person in a court of appeals without first obtaining leave of the court of appeals to proceed pursuant to division (F)(2) of this section.

- 935
- (E) An order that is entered under division (D)(1) of this section shall remain in force indefinitely unless the order provides for its expiration after a specified period of time.
- 937

932

933

934

936

938

- (F)(1) A court of common pleas that entered an order under division (D)(1) of this section shall not grant a person found to be a vexatious litigator leave for the institution or continuance of, or the making of an application in, legal proceedings in the court of claims or in a court of common pleas, municipal court, or county court unless the court of common pleas that entered that order is satisfied that the proceedings or application are not an abuse of process of the court in question and that there are reasonable grounds for the proceedings or application. If a person who has been found to be a vexatious litigator under this section requests the court of common pleas that entered an order under division (D)(1) of this section to grant the person leave to proceed as described in division (F)(1) of this section, the period of time commencing with the filing with that court of an application for the issuance of an order granting leave to proceed and ending with the issuance of an order of that nature shall not be computed as a part of an applicable period of limitations within which the legal proceedings or application involved generally must be instituted or made.
- 939 940

941

942

943

944

945

946

947

948

949950

951

952

953

954

955

956

957

958

959

960

961

(2) A person who is subject to an order entered pursuant to division (D)(1) of this section and who seeks to institute or continue any legal proceedings in a court of appeals or to make an application, other than an application for leave to proceed

under division (F)(2) of this section, in any legal proceedings	962
in a court of appeals shall file an application for leave to	963
proceed in the court of appeals in which the legal proceedings	964
would be instituted or are pending. The court of appeals shall	965
not grant a person found to be a vexatious litigator leave for	966
the institution or continuance of, or the making of an	967
application in, legal proceedings in the court of appeals unless	968
the court of appeals is satisfied that the proceedings or	969
application are not an abuse of process of the court and that	970
there are reasonable grounds for the proceedings or application.	971
If a person who has been found to be a vexatious litigator under	972
this section requests the court of appeals to grant the person	973
leave to proceed as described in division (F)(2) of this	974
section, the period of time commencing with the filing with the	975
court of an application for the issuance of an order granting	976
leave to proceed and ending with the issuance of an order of	977
that nature shall not be computed as a part of an applicable	978
period of limitations within which the legal proceedings or	979
application involved generally must be instituted or made.	980

- (G) During the period of time that the order entered under 981 division (D)(1) of this section is in force, no appeal by the 982 person who is the subject of that order shall lie from a 983 decision of the court of common pleas or court of appeals under 984 division (F) of this section that denies that person leave for 985 the institution or continuance of, or the making of an 986 application in, legal proceedings in the court of claims or in a 987 court of appeals, court of common pleas, municipal court, or 988 county court. 989
- (H) The clerk of the court of common pleas that enters anorder under division (D)(1) of this section shall send acertified copy of the order to the supreme court for publication992

994

995

996

997

998

999

1000

1001

1003

1004

1005

1006

1007

in a manner that the supreme court determines is appropriate and that will facilitate the clerk of the court of claims and a clerk of a court of appeals, court of common pleas, municipal court, or county court in refusing to accept pleadings or other papers submitted for filing by persons who have been found to be a vexatious litigator under this section and who have failed to obtain leave to proceed under this section.

- (I) Whenever it appears by suggestion of the parties or otherwise that a person found to be a vexatious litigator under this section has instituted, continued, or made an application in legal proceedings without obtaining leave to proceed from the appropriate court of common pleas or court of appeals to do so under division (F) of this section, the court in which the legal proceedings are pending shall dismiss the proceedings or application of the vexatious litigator.
- Sec. 2743.03. (A) (1) There is hereby created a court of 1008 claims. The court of claims is a court of record and has 1009 exclusive, original jurisdiction of all civil actions against 1010 the state permitted by the waiver of immunity contained in 1011 section 2743.02 of the Revised Code and exclusive jurisdiction 1012 of the causes of action of all parties in civil actions that are 1013 removed to the court of claims. The court shall have full equity 1014 powers in all actions within its jurisdiction and may entertain 1015 and determine all counterclaims, cross-claims, and third-party 1016 claims. 1017
- (2) If the claimant in a civil action as described in

  division (A)(1) of this section also files a claim for a

  1019

  declaratory judgment, injunctive relief, or other equitable

  relief against the state that arises out of the same

  1021

  circumstances that gave rise to the civil action described in

  1022

1051

1052

division (A)(1) of this section, the court of claims has	1023
exclusive, original jurisdiction to hear and determine that	1024
claim in that civil action. This division does not affect, and	1025
shall not be construed as affecting, the original jurisdiction	1026
of another court of this state to hear and determine a civil	1027
action in which the sole relief that the claimant seeks against	1028
the state is a declaratory judgment, injunctive relief, or other	1029
equitable relief.	1030
(3) In addition to its exclusive, original jurisdiction as	1031
conferred by division divisions (A)(1) and (2) of this section,	1032
the court of claims has exclusive, original jurisdiction as	1033
follows:	1034
(a) As described in division (F) of section 2743.02,	1035
division (B) of section 3335.03, and division (C) of section	1036
5903.02 of the Revised Code;	1037
(b) Under section 2743.75 of the Revised Code to hear	1038
complaints alleging a denial of access to public records in	1039
violation of division (B) of section 149.43 of the Revised Code,	1040
regardless of whether the public office or person responsible	1041
for public records is an office or employee of the state or of a	1042
political subdivision.	1043
(B) The court of claims shall sit in Franklin county, its	1044
hearings shall be public, and it shall consist of incumbent	1045
justices or judges of the supreme court, courts of appeals, or	1046
courts of common pleas, or retired justices or judges eligible	1047
for active duty pursuant to division (C) of Section 6 of Article	1048
IV, Ohio Constitution, sitting by temporary assignment of the	1049

chief justice of the supreme court. The chief justice may direct

the court to sit in any county for cases on removal upon a

showing of substantial hardship and whenever justice dictates.

- (C) (1) A civil action against the state shall be heard and 1053 determined by a single judge. Upon application by the claimant 1054 or the state, the chief justice of the supreme court may assign 1055 a panel of three judges to hear and determine a civil action 1056 presenting novel or complex issues of law or fact. Concurrence 1057 of two members of the panel is necessary for any judgment or 1058 order.
- (2) Whenever the chief justice of the supreme court 1060 believes an equitable resolution of a case will be expedited, 1061 the chief justice may appoint magistrates in accordance with 1062 Civil Rule 53 to hear the case. 1063
- (3) When any dispute under division (B) of section 153.12 1064 of the Revised Code is brought to the court of claims, upon 1065 request of either party to the dispute, the chief justice of the 1066 supreme court shall appoint a single referee or a panel of three 1067 referees. The referees need not be attorneys, but shall be 1068 persons knowledgeable about construction contract law, a member 1069 of the construction industry panel of the American arbitration 1070 association, or an individual or individuals deemed qualified by 1071 the chief justice to serve. No person shall serve as a referee 1072 if that person has been employed by an affected state agency or 1073 a contractor or subcontractor involved in the dispute at any 1074 time in the preceding five years. Proceedings governing referees 1075 shall be in accordance with Civil Rule 53, except as modified by 1076 this division. The referee or panel of referees shall submit its 1077 report, which shall include a recommendation and finding of 1078 fact, to the judge assigned to the case by the chief justice, 1079 within thirty days of the conclusion of the hearings. Referees 1080 appointed pursuant to this division shall be compensated on a 1081 per diem basis at the same rate as is paid to judges of the 1082 court and also shall be paid their expenses. If a single referee 1083

is appointed or a panel of three referees is appointed, then,	1084
with respect to one referee of the panel, the compensation and	1085
expenses of the referee shall not be taxed as part of the costs	1086
in the case but shall be included in the budget of the court. If	1087
a panel of three referees is appointed, the compensation and	1088
expenses of the two remaining referees shall be taxed as costs	1089
of the case.	1090

All costs of a case shall be apportioned among the 1091 parties. The court may not require that any party deposit with 1092 the court cash, bonds, or other security in excess of two 1093 hundred dollars to guarantee payment of costs without the prior 1094 approval in each case of the chief justice. 1095

- (4) An appeal from a decision of the attorney general 1096 pursuant to sections 2743.51 to 2743.72 of the Revised Code 1097 shall be heard and determined by the court of claims. 1098
- (D) The Rules of Civil Procedure shall govern practice and procedure in all actions in the court of claims, except insofar 1100 as inconsistent with this chapter. The supreme court may 1101 promulgate rules governing practice and procedure in actions in 1102 the court as provided in Section 5 of Article IV, Ohio 1103 Constitution.
- (E) (1) A party who files a counterclaim against the state 1105 or makes the state a third-party defendant in an action 1106 commenced in any court, other than the court of claims, shall 1107 file a petition for removal in the court of claims. The petition 1108 shall state the basis for removal, be accompanied by a copy of 1109 all process, pleadings, and other papers served upon the 1110 petitioner, and shall be signed in accordance with Civil Rule 1111 11. A petition for removal based on a counterclaim shall be 1112 filed within twenty-eight days after service of the counterclaim 1113

of the petitioner. A petition for removal based on third-party	1114
practice shall be filed within twenty-eight days after the	1115
filing of the third-party complaint of the petitioner.	1116

- (2) Within seven days after filing a petition for removal, 1117 the petitioner shall give written notice to the parties, and 1118 shall file a copy of the petition with the clerk of the court in 1119 which the action was brought originally. The filing effects the 1120 removal of the action to the court of claims, and the clerk of 1121 the court where the action was brought shall forward all papers 1122 in the case to the court of claims. The court of claims shall 1123 adjudicate all civil actions removed. The court may remand a 1124 civil action to the court in which it originated upon a finding 1125 that the removal petition does not justify removal, or upon a 1126 finding that the state is no longer a party. 1127
- (3) Bonds, undertakings, or security and injunctions,
  attachments, sequestrations, or other orders issued prior to
  1129
  removal remain in effect until dissolved or modified by the
  court of claims.
  1131

Sec. 2743.75. (A) In order to provide for an expeditious 1132 and economical procedure that attempts to resolve disputes 1133 alleging a denial of access to public records in violation of 1134 division (B) of section 149.43 of the Revised Code, except for a 1135 court that hears a mandamus action pursuant to that section, the 1136 court of claims shall be the sole and exclusive authority in 1137 this state that adjudicates or resolves complaints based on 1138 alleged violations of that section. The clerk of the court of 1139 claims shall designate one or more current employees or hire one 1140 or more individuals to serve as special masters to hear 1141 complaints brought under this section. All special masters shall 1142 have been engaged in the practice of law in this state for at 1143

(D) (1) An allegedly aggrieved person who proceeds under

this section shall file a complaint, on a form prescribed by the

clerk of the court of claims, with the clerk of the court of

claims or with the clerk of the court of common pleas of the

1170

1171

1172

1173

county in which the public office from which the records are	1174
requested is located. The person shall attach to the complaint	1175
copies of the original records request and any written responses	1176
or other communications relating to the request from the public	1177
office or person responsible for public records and shall pay a	1178
filing fee of twenty-five dollars made payable to the clerk of	1179
the court with whom the complaint is filed. The clerk shall	1180
serve a copy of the complaint on the public office or person	1181
responsible for public records for the particular public office	1182
in accordance with Civil Rule 4.1 and, if the complaint is filed	1183
with the clerk of the court of common pleas, shall forward the	1184
complaint to the clerk of the court of claims, and to no other	1185
court, within three business days after service is complete.	1186
(2) Upon receipt of a complaint filed under division (D)	1187
(1) of this section, the clerk of the court of claims shall	1188
assign a case number for the action and a special master to	1189
examine the complaint. Notwithstanding any provision to the	1190
contrary in this section, upon the recommendation of the special	1191
master, the court of claims on its own motion may dismiss the	1192
complaint at any time. The allegedly aggrieved person may	1193
voluntarily dismiss the complaint filed by that person under	1194
division (D)(1) of this section.	1195
(E)(1) Upon service of a complaint under division (D)(1)	1196
of this section, except as otherwise provided in this division,	1197
the special master assigned by the clerk under division (D)(2)	1198
of this section immediately shall refer the case to mediation	1199
services that the court of claims makes available to persons.	1200
If, in the interest of justice considering the circumstances of	1201
the case or the parties, the special master determines that the	1202
case should not be referred to mediation, the special master	1203
shall notify the court that the case was not referred to	1204

Page 42

Sub. S. B. No. 321

objection and send a copy of the response to the objecting party

1264

Page 44

Sub. S. B. No. 321

recommendation unless a timely objection to that report and	1295
recommendation was filed under division (F)(2) of this section.	1296
If the court of claims materially modifies the special master's	1297
report and recommendation, either party may take an appeal to	1298
the court of appeals of the appellate district of the principal	1299
place of business where that public office is located but the	1300
appeal shall be limited to the issue in the report and	1301
recommendation that is materially modified by the court of	1302
claims. In order to facilitate the expeditious resolution of	1303
disputes over alleged denials of access to public records in	1304
violation of division (B) of section 149.43 of the Revised Code,	1305
the appeal shall be given such precedence over other pending	1306
matters as will ensure that the court will reach a decision	1307
promptly.	1308
(2) If a court of appeals in any appeal taken under	1309
division (G)(1) of this section by the public office or person	1310
responsible for the public records determines that the public	1311
office or person denied the aggrieved person access to the	1312
public records in violation of division (B) of section 149.43 of	1313
the Revised Code and obviously filed the appeal with the intent	1314
to either delay compliance with the court of claims' order from	1315
which the appeal is taken for no reasonable cause or unduly	1316
harass the aggrieved person, the court of appeals may award	1317
reasonable attorney's fees to the aggrieved person in accordance	1318
with division (C) of section 149.43 of the Revised Code. No	1319
discovery may be conducted on the issue of the public office or	1320
person responsible for the public records filing the appeal with	1321
the alleged intent to either delay compliance with the court of	1322
claims' order for no reasonable cause or unduly harass the	1323
aggrieved person. This division shall not be construed as	1324
creating a presumption that the public office or the person	1325

Sub. S. B. No. 321 As Reported by the House Government Accountability and Oversight Committee	Page 47
shall tax as costs or otherwise require the payment of fees for	1355
the following services rendered or as compensation for the	1356
following persons or any other of the following fees that are	1357
applicable in a particular case:	1358
(A) The fees provided for in section 2303.20 of the	1359
Revised Code;	1360
(B) Additional fees to computerize the court, make	1361
available computerized legal research services, computerize the	1362
office of the clerk of the court, provide financial assistance	1363
to legal aid societies, support the office of the state public	1364
defender, fund shelters for victims of domestic violence, and	1365
special projects of the court, as provided in section 2303.201	1366
and, for a court that has a domestic relations division, section	1367
2301.031 of the Revised Code;	1368
(C) Filing for a divorce decree under section 3105.10 or a	1369
decree of dissolution under section 3105.65 of the Revised Code,	1370
as provided in section 3109.14 of the Revised Code;	1371
(D) Filing of a foreign judgment pursuant to section	1372
2329.022 of the Revised Code, as provided in section 2329.025 of	1373
the Revised Code;	1374
(E) Interpreters, as provided in section 2301.14 of the	1375
Revised Code;	1376
(F) Jurors in civil actions, as provided in section	1377
2335.28 of the Revised Code;	1378
(G) Reporters, as provided in sections 2301.21 and 2301.24	1379
of the Revised Code;	1380
(H) In a case involving the operation by a nonresident of	1381
a vessel upon the waters in this state, or the operation on the	1382

Sub. S. B. No. 321 As Reported by the House Government Accountability and Oversight Committee	Page 50
This provision shall apply to the submission of any	1441
student data or records that are subject to any laws of this	1442
state or, to the extent permitted, any federal law, including	1443
the "Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act of 1974," 88	1444
Stat. 571, 20 U.S.C. 1232g.	1445
Section 2. That existing sections 149.43, 149.433,	1446
2323.52, 2743.03, 2746.04, and 3333.0412 of the Revised Code are	1447
hereby repealed.	1448